IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 66,799 1st DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO.: AW-248

HARRY LAMAR TEDDER,

Petitioner,

vs.

VIDEO ELECTRONICS, INC., et al.

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

HARRY LAMAR TEDDER

DANIEL D. RICHARDSON 1004 Atlantic Bank Building Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Telephone: (904) 358-3741

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 16, 1982, HARRY LAMAR TEDDAR, VIDEO ELECTRONICS, INC., PORTER M. MOORE and REX MOORE signed an employment contract which provided that Harry Teddar would work as general manager of Video Electronics for a two-year period. On August 20, 1982, Harry Tedder was terminated. Mr. Tedder subsequently filed suit in the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit for breach of contract.

A jury trial was held during September, 1983. The defendant objected during the trial to the Court's rule regarding backstriking in the jury selection process. The objection was considered and overruled. After a three day trial the jury returned a verdict for the Plaintiff, Harry Tedder. Judgment was entered in the amount of \$74,497.50.

The defendant, Rex H. Moore, died after the trial but before the Notice of Appeal. The Estate of Rex H. Moore and the other defendants pursued their Appeal on three issues, including the issue on appeal herein related to the jury selection process. The First District Court of Appeal upheld the trial court on the two other points on appeal but reversed and remanded the case based solely on the jury selection issue. That issue was certified to this Court by the First District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance.

Harry Tedder is now the Petitioner to the Florida Supreme Court. Simultaneous with his Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court, Mr. Tedder filed a Motion To Stay Mandate Pending Review with the First District Court of Appeal. That stay was granted.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The rules related to jury selection were carefully set forth by the trial judge at the pretrial conference (unrecorded). Each side was allowed six peremptory challenges. One strike was allowed for the alternate. One round of backstriking would be allowed and the jury members seated after the first round of backstriking would be sworn

The Court followed its trial rules precisely. The Defendants exercised their right to backstrike at the fourth side-bar conference when they excused Juror Townsend (T 53). Number 223, Ms. Following the backstriking by the Defendants the Court swore the four jurors who were seated (T 55). At that time both Plaintiff and Defendants had exercised five peremptory challenges and each had one remaining challenge. Two further jurors were called. At the fifth side-bar conference the Defendants attempted to backstrike a juror who had already been sworn (T 61). The court did not allow the strike (T 62). The Plaintiff exercised his final peremptory challenge. The fifth juror was sworn (T 63). The final regular juror was called. The Defendants did not strike the sixth juror (T 66). An alternate juror was called (T 67). Neither side challenged the alternate (T 73). The final two jurors were sworn (T 74).

-3-

THE CERTIFIED ISSUE

IN THE ABSENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL REASONS ARISING FROM EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES SHOWN TO EXIST IN THE PARTI-CULAR CASE, IS IT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR A TRIAL COURT TO EMPLOY A JURY SELECTION PROCEDURE IN WHICH SOME BUT NOT ALL PROSPECTIVE JURORS ARE SWORN FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROHIBITING THE EXERCISE OF PREMPTORY CHALLENGES TO BACKSTRIKE SUCH JURORS?

I. DUAL PRINCIPLES OF LAW

This case involves two principles of law that have Jurisprudence. The deep roots in Florida first principle is the right to challenge a juror until he is sworn. The second principle, equally venerable, is the right of the judge to control the time and manner in which the jurors are sworn. As stated in Grant v. State, 429 So.2d 758 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), Florida courts have consistently held for more than one hundred years that a prospective juror may be challenged at any time before the juror is sworn. See, e.g. Jones v. State, 332 So.2d 615 (Fla. 1976); Knee v. State, 294 So.2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974); Walden v. State, 319 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Shelby v. State, 301 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).

However, after a juror or jurors are sworn, the defendant no longer has a right to challenge. In <u>Mathis v. State</u>, 45 Fla. 46, 34 So. 287 (1903), the trial judge swore seven jurors before the completion of

-4-

the jury panel and thereafter swore each newly chosen juror individually. Upon review, this Court said:

We are of the opinion that, while it may be the better practice to postpone the swearing in chief of jurors until the full panel is obtained, so as to allow the longest possible time for peremptory challenges . . . in the absence of a statutory provision, the rule is that the time and manner of swearing jurors in chief, after they have been examined on voir dire, and an opportunity given for challenge, are within the sound judicial discretion of the Court. (Id., 34 So. at 291).

Indeed, the cases continue to hold that the time and manner of swearing the jury rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge. See <u>Buchanan v. State</u>, 95 Fla. 301, 116 So. 275 (Fla. 1928); <u>King v. State</u>, 125 Fla. 316, 169 So. 747 (Fla. 1936); <u>Bocanegra v.</u> <u>State</u>, 303 So.2d 429 (Fla. 2d. DCA 1974); cert dismissed, 308 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1975).

This Court has never held that the discretionary authority of the trial judge as to when to swear a juror after vior dire by the parties was limited by a party's right to exercise peremptory challenges. This Court has always found these dual principles to be equal and harmonious in the overall scheme of justice. There have been no statutory provisions enacted or Rules of Civil Procedure promulgated which have altered the rule of law announced by this Court in Mathis.

II. SHORT PROGRESSION OF CASES

Fourth District Court of Appeal began the The short progression of cases which have led to this case on appeal when it stated in Denham v. State, 321 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), "Backstriking or backchallenging should not be prohibited by a trial court." That statement was purely dicta and the convictions of defendants were still affirmed.

In 1983 the Fourth District Court of Appeal cited <u>Denham</u> in <u>Grant v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 758 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and concluded as follows:

Appellee has failed to cite and we have found no case which endorses the procedure exercised by the trial judge sub judice. However, neither have we found a case which reverses a trial judge's exercise of discretion in the time and manner of swearing the jurors. Thus, we are not prepared to call judge's procedure a per se abuse of the discretion which would mandate reversal prejudice. without а showing of Nonetheless, we disapprove of the procedure utilized by the trial judge in this case, for it served no purpose at all except to prevent the parties from accepting the jury as a panel. Grant at 760. (emphasis added)

The Court did uphold the conviction of defendant Grant because the appellant failed to demonstrate that he was prevented from peremptorily challenging a

-6-

previously accepted juror because of the trial court's no "backstrike" procedure.

In 1985 the Fourth District Court of Appeal cited its own Grant v. State, as sole authority to find the procedure of restricting backstriking was an abuse of discretion. 10 FLW. 155 (4th DCA King v. State, 1985). his written dissent, Tn however, Judge Glickstein strongly reminded the court that in every case in which a trial judge is reversed, there must be a reason founded in the Federal or State Constitution, a State statue, or a rule of Court or procedure. After an analysis of all such authority, Judge Glickstein concluded that "those on the appellate bench who decry the procedure used here should suggest that the Florida Supreme Court remedy the problem in its next promulgation of Florida Rules of Procedure and should not attempt unconstitutional usurpation of that court's rule-making authority." King at 156

In the instant case the Appellate Court recognizes the right of the trial court to control the time of swearing jurors but seeks to limit that discretion by raising the "recognized better practice" to the level of a Rule of Civil Procedure. In <u>Mathis v. State</u>, supra, this court found no inherent abuse of discretion by the trial court even though a "better practice" was

-7-

noted. Nor was an abuse of discretion found in <u>King</u> <u>v. State</u>, 169 So. 747 (Fla. 1936). As stated earlier, there have been no applicable changes in statutory law or Rules of Procedure since those decisions which could justify the lower appellate court's departure from the precedent of this Court. If the "better practice" was mandatory in Florida, this Court would have so held in <u>Mathis</u> and <u>King</u>. It did not so hold, however, and the discretionary authority of the trial court was clearly upheld in both cases.

III. A NEW FLORIDA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE?

The cases which make up the short progression of cases from <u>Denham v. State</u>, supra, to the instant case are all criminal cases subject to the following Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure:

"Rule 3.310. Time for Challenge

The State or defendant may challenge an individual prospective juror before the juror is sworn to try the cause; except that the court may, for good cause, permit it to be made after the juror is sworn, but before any evidence is presented."

There is no comparable Florida Rule of Civil Procedure. In the instant case the defendants' challenge was peremptory and not for cause. There is no rule of Civil Procedure or Criminal Procedure which directs the trial judge to wait until all peremptory challenges are exhausted to swear a juror. A procedure which requires the court to set forth the reasons for its discretion in that regard is a totally new burden on the trial judge which is unprecedented.

The First District Court of Appeal is clearly usurping the authority of this Court to promulgate Rules of Procedure by its decision that "we conclude that whenever a trial court exercises its discretion to do so [eliminates backstriking] and so departs from the better practice, the record should reflect substantial reasons therefore arising from exceptional circumstances in the particular case." Decision on Appeal, page 9.

In effect, the proposed rule would require the trial judge to show "good cause" for swearing jurors individually after vior dire and opportunity for challenge. Such a dramatic change would surely require all of the study, debate, and safeguards inherent in the ordinary rule making process. The court itself calls its declaration a "rule":

Adherence to this <u>rule</u> will, we believe, infuse considerable uniformity and consistency in the jury selection process, insure that the better practice is generally followed, and preserve the trial court's discretion to depart from this <u>procedure</u> when exceptional conditions so require. (Decision on Appeal, page 9).

-9-

This even sounds like a recommendation to a Rules Committee and would certainly be more appropriately considered as such. In the instant case, however, the trial court, in Jacksonville, Florida, properly relied on the established precedent of this Court. The trial court exercised its discretion on a subject clearly left to his discretion. Unlike the new "rule" offered by the Appellate Court, there was no rule in effect requiring the trial judge to set forth the reasons for his action. There is, on the contrary, a <u>presumption</u> favoring the trial court's wide latitude in regulating the conduct of the trial proceedings. <u>See</u> 3 Fla. Jur 2d: Appellate Review, Section 313, 328.

IV. COMMON LAW AND FEDERAL LAW

The United States Supreme Court dealt with the issue of backstriking as early as 1894 in the case of <u>St. Clair v. United States</u>, 154 U.S. 134, 148, 14 S.Ct. 1002, 1008, 38 L. Ed. 936 (1894). In that case the Court held as follows:

By rule 63 of the court below, it is provided that "in all criminal trials the designation, impaneling, and challenging of jurors shall conform to the laws of the state existing at the time, except as otherwise provided by acts of congress or the rules of this court; but a juror shall be challenged, or accepted and sworn, in the case as soon as his examinatin is completed, and before the examination of another juror.

This rule was enforced at the trial of this case. After the first juror was examined as to his gualifications, the court announced that he must be sworn to try the case, unless challenged by one party or the other; the accused claiming the right to all the jurors as to examine their qualifications before being required to exercise his privilege of peremptory challenge as to any of them.

This general subject was carefully considered in Lewis v. U.S., 146 U.S. 379, 13 Sup. Ct. 136, and in <u>Pointer v. U.S.</u>, 151 U.S. 407, 410, 411, 14 Sup. Ct. 410. Referring to section 800 of the Revised Statutes, and the act of June 30, 1879, c. 52 (21 Stat. 43, 44), we said in the latter case: "There is nothing in these provisions sustaining the objection made to the mode in which the trial jury was formed. In respect to the qualifications and exemptions of jurors to serve in the courts of the United States, the state laws are controlling. But congress has not made the laws and usages relating to the designation and impaneling of jurors in the respective state courts applicable to the courts of the United States, except as the latter shall, by general standing rule, or by special order in a particular case, adopt the state practice in that regard. U.S. v. <u>U.S. v.</u> Shackleford, 18 How. 488; 28 Fed. 61, "In the 69." Richardson, absence of such rule or order," it was further said, "the mode of designating and impaneling jurors for the trial of cases in the Courts of the United States is within the control of those courts, subject only to the restrictions congress has prescribed, also to such limitations as are and recognized by the settled principles of criminal law to be essential in securing impartial juries for the trial of offenses. * * * In some juridictions the mode pursued in the challenging of jurors is for the

accused and the government to make their challenges juror, peremptory as each previously ascertained to be qualified, and not subject to be challenged for cause is presented for challenge or acceptance. But it is not essential that this mode should \overline{be} adopted." Referring to certain observations of Chief Justice Tindal in Reg. v. Frost, 9 Car. & P. 129, 137, it was further said: "At most, in connection with the report of case, they tend to show that the the practice in England, as in some of the states, was to have the question of peremptory challenge as to each juror sworn on his voir dire, and found to be free from legal objection, determined, as to him, before another juror is examined as to his But there is no suggestion qualifications. by any of the judges in Frost's Case that that mode was the only mode that could be pursued without embarrassing the accused in the exercise of his right of challenge. The authority circuit of the courts of the United States to deal with the subject of impaneling juries in criminal cases was recognized in <u>Lewis v. U.S.</u>, subject to the condition that such rules must be adopted to secure all the rights of the accused. 146 U.S. 378" 13 Sup. Ct. 136.

Adhering to what was said in Pointer's Case,--that any system for the impaneling of a jury that prevents or embarrasses the full, unrestricted exercise by the accused of his right to peremptory challenge must be condemned,--we hold that the rule adopted by the court below is not inconsistent with any settled principle of criminal law, nor does it interfere with the selection of impartial juries. St. Clair v. U.S., id at 1007.

In 1965 the Seventh Circuit U.S. Court of Appeal reviewed the very issue before this Court. In <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Mackey</u>, 345 F.2d 499, 502 (7th Cir. 1965) the Federal Court cited <u>St. Clair v. United States</u>, supra, as authority for its decision to uphold the "no backstrike" rule of the trial court. The Court concluded as follows:

"We conclude defendant has not been denied any statutory or constitutional right <u>and hold</u> the district court did not abuse its discretion in the rule it invoked for the use of peremptory challenges. Mackey at 503 (emphasis added)

After a review of a similiar local rule in Kentucky, the Sixth U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals came to the same conclusion in <u>United States v. Anderson</u>, 562 F.2d 394 (6th Cir. 1977).

"We conclude that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in limiting the manner in which peremptory challenges could be exercised. See St. Clair v. United States, 154 U.S. at 147-48, 14 S.Ct. 1002 See also United States v. Mackey, 345 F.2d 499 (7th Cir. 1965); Philbrook v. United States, 117 F.2d 632 (8th Cir. 1941) (emphasis added)

There are no cases in federal courts which support If the right to the position of the Respondants. backstrike were so essential to a fair trial, it would seem that the federal courts would have found it so. They have not. If it were an abuse of discretion to give a party only one chance to strike a juror after voir dire, it would seem that the federal courts would have so found. They have not. The decisions of our U.S. Federal Courts are in complete harmony with the venerable case law of this Court. Both have traditinally upheld the discretion of the trial court on this issue.

The practice of swearing jurors at the end of each round of challenges is time honored and part of the common law practice of law.

The common-law practice however, was to present each juror as he was called, to examine, pass, or challenge him, and to him before the next swear juror was presented; in other words, the jurors were impaneled one by one [McDonald v. State, 172 Ind. 393, 88 N.E. 673; State v. Hartley, 22 Nev 342, 40 P 372] This common-law practice is sometimes still followed, particularly in capital cases, and also to a considerable extent in cases involving imprisonment for life or for a long term of years, and the United States Supreme Court found has nothing objectionable in a rule of a lower court adopting such a practice. [St. Clair v. United States, 154 U.S. 134, 38 L.Ed. 936, 14 S. Ct. 1002] 47 Am Jur 2d, Jury Section 193, p. 784. See also 47 <u>Am Jur 2d</u>, Jury Section 340, p. 909.

Florida Statute 2.01 adopted the common-law of England:

The common and statute laws of England which are of general and not a local nature with the exception hereinafter mentioned, down to the fourth day of July, 1776, are declared to be of force in this state; provided, said statutes and common law be not inconsistent with the constitution and laws of the United States and the acts of the legislature of this state.

Since the practice which prohibited backstriking was part of the common law, it has effectively been statutorily adopted in Florida as an accepted method of jury selection. As indicated in St. Clair, supra, it was codified into a Rule of the U.S. District Court [No. 63] by 1894. In the 1977 case of <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Anderson</u>, supra, it was embodied in a local rule of a Federal District Court. Although not codified, it is the practice in the Federal District Courts in Jacksonville, Florida today!

The question is, does the practice of preventing backstriking infringe upon a right related to the use of peremptory challenges. The U.S. Supreme Court, the U.S.Appellate and District Courts, and the common law practice all concur with the prior holdings of this court that the use of such a practice is not prejudicial to a right of a party to use his peremptory challenges.

V. JUSTICE IN THIS CASE

The lower Appellate Court herein has remanded the for trial. The issue case а new related to backstriking was the only error found in the previous jury trial. other points raised by Video Two Electronics, et al were resolved in favor of Mr. Tedder.

Immediately after the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Mr. Tedder filed a Motion to Stay the Issuance of a Mandate. That Motion was granted. The bond which was posted by the Video Electronics, et al remains intact. As indicated in the Motion to Stay, if the bond is released the substantial judgment awarded to Mr.Tedder would be forever uncollectable due to the death of Rex Moore and the dramatic decline in the video game industry. A remand would reverse the ultimate outcome of the litigation whether or not a new trial was had and won by Mr. Tedder.

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