047  
**FILED**

SID L. VANCE

MAY 20 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 66,799

HARRY LAMAR TEDDER,  
Petitioner,

vs.

VIDEO ELECTRONICS, INC., PORTER M. MOORE ,  
individually; and ALTON L. TURNER and  
DANIEL L. LINDSAY as Executors of the  
Estate of REX H. MOORE,

Respondents

First District Court of Appeal  
State of Florida  
Docket No. AW-248

---

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

JOHN F. CALLENDER  
2105 Gulf Life Tower  
Jacksonville, Florida  
(904) 398-8833

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. In the absence of substantial reasons arising from exceptional circumstances shown to exist in the particular case, it is an abuse of discretion for a trial court to employ a jury selection procedure in which some but not all prospective jurors are sworn for the purpose of prohibiting the exercise of peremptory challenges to backstrike such jurors.

In Florida, a party litigant is entitled to consider the panel as a whole at any time that litigant has peremptory challenges remaining, and to exercise those challenges at any time until the jury is sworn.

This right has developed gradually through opinions of this Court and of the lower appellate courts of Florida, and has recently been reaffirmed and emphasized by this Court.

Petitioner's argument that the common law of other times, other places, and other courts has been otherwise, serves only to illustrate that the right is one within the scope of common law development. While the precise mechanics for the exercise of this right could at some time come within this Court's rule-making jurisdiction, that aspect of this Court's work is not necessarily involved in the instant decision. Enforcement of this right can be left to the sound discretion of the trial courts.

II. This Court should reverse in part the decision of the district court of appeal and remand the cause for entry of judgment on Video's motion for a directed verdict.

The entire case, not merely the certified question, is properly before this Court.

The employment contract provided that Mr. Tedder would submit documentation to substantiate his business expenses. By his own admission, Mr. Tedder on repeated occasions double billed and twice received payment for the same expenses.

By requiring Video to prove not only that Mr. Tedder breached this provision of the contract on repeated occasions, but that he did so deliberately, the courts below have in effect rewritten the contract of the parties rather than giving effect to its terms.

## ARGUMENT

I. IN THE ABSENCE OF SUBSTANTIAL REASONS ARISING FROM EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES SHOWN TO EXIST IN THE PARTICULAR CASE, IT IS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION FOR A TRIAL COURT TO EMPLOY A JURY SELECTION PROCEDURE IN WHICH SOME BUT NOT ALL PROSPECTIVE JURORS ARE SWORN FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROHIBITING THE EXERCISE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES TO BACKSTRIKE SUCH JURORS.

As the district court of appeal held, the trial court abused its discretion in employing a jury selection procedure by which the parties were limited to one round of backstrikes before jury members were sworn piecemeal. This had its intended effect of denying the parties the right to examine and consider the panel as a whole so as to make intelligent and effective use of their peremptory challenges. Because Video moved to challenge a prematurely sworn juror, prejudice was shown and the point preserved for appellate review.

In Florida Rock Industries, Inc. v. United Building Systems, Inc., 408 So. 2d 630 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981)(A 36), the trial court's voir dire procedure denying backstrikes was reviewed. In Florida Rock, twenty four prospective jurors were examined and then considered one at a time. Once consideration had passed from a particular prospective juror, the trial court denied the parties the opportunity to backstrike. Judge Cobb, reversing, said:

"A party litigant . . . is entitled to consider the panel as a whole at any time that litigant has peremptory challenges remaining, and exercise those challenges at any time until the jury is sworn. The denial of this right was error, and the error was preserved by the defendants' motion to peremptorily challenge a juror, which was denied." 408 So.2d at 632 (A 38).

To the same effect is Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Gellert, 438 So.2d 923 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) (Gellert II). In Gellert II, the trial court adopted a procedure of seating twelve prospective jurors, completing their examination by the Court and by counsel and then requiring all peremptory challenges to be made at once. With eight prospective jurors remaining after challenges for cause, the parties there were forced to exercise all peremptory challenges against the eight. No opportunity was afforded the parties to hold back any strikes for those still to be seated and examined after the exercise of peremptory challenges. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed:

"Thus, the court, while granted discretion over the manner in which challenges are exercised, must exercise that discretion so as not to violate the litigant's right to have a fair opportunity to make an intelligent judgment as to exercise of peremptory challenges ... (citations omitted). Here, by whatever manner the initial peremptory challenges were exercised, once the number of prospective jurors who had been examined on voir dire was reduced to less than the six required for the trial of this case, additional prospective jurors should have been seated and subjected to voir dire, after which further opportunity for exercise of peremptory challenges should have been permitted, and the process continued until counsel either exhausted their respective peremptory challenges or, having challenges left, voluntarily relinquished them and accepted the jury" 438 So.2d at 931.

As in Gellert II, the defendants below were required to exercise or waive their last peremptory challenge as to the four prospective jurors seated in the box before they had the

opportunity to examine the two prospective jurors who would be called to the box to round out the jury panel.

As Judge Cobb noted in Florida Rock, "...[A]nthing can change with further questions and even further attorney contemplation, all of which may continue up until that terminal moment when the jury is sworn" 408 So.2d at 631 (A 37).

In Jackson v. State 10 FLW 95 (Fla. Jan. 31, 1985)(A 47) this Court emphasized the same right:

"We again emphasize that a party may challenge any juror at any time before the jurors are sworn. A trial judge has no authority to infringe upon a party's right to challenge any juror, either peremptorily or for cause, prior to the time the jury is sworn." 10 FLW at 95(A 47).

The twist in the case at bar is that the trial court caused some prospective jurors to be sworn piecemeal before the entire panel had been chosen. The issue is whether the trial court has authority by such a facile device to infringe upon a party's right by removing prospective jurors from consideration before the composition of the entire panel can be known, or whether the right so recently emphasized by this Court and upheld by the decision here reviewed, is substantial.

In the case at bar, the trial court apparently relied on criminal precedents, including Mathis v. State 45 Fla. 46. 34 So. 287 (1903); and King v. State 125 Fla. 316, 169 So. 747 (1936) (King I) which said that the "better practice" was to

postpone the swearing of the jurors until the full panel was obtained but that the right involved was insubstantial. Expressly rejecting the better practice without stating any reason but his own perception of his own power, the trial judge declared, "I have the right to swear the jury piecemeal." (Tr. p. 55; A. 29).

The district court of appeal reversed. It observed that the better practice, the practice which confirms to parties their right to exercise their challenges intelligently with the full panel in view, had been described long ago in Mathis, repeated in King I, flagged in Bocanegra v. State 303 So. 2d. 429 (Fla.2d DCA 1974) and Denham v. State 421 So. 2d. 1082 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) as a potentially reversible abuse of discretion if the better practice were disregarded; and held to be error, though not fundamental error, in Grant v. State 429 So.2d 758 (Fla.4th DCA 1983)(A 39); which was followed in King v. State 461 So.2d. 1370 (Fla.4th DCA 1985)(King II)(A 43), where the point had been preserved for review.

Acknowledging that exceptional circumstances could require a departure from the recognized better practice in the exercise of sound judicial discretion, the district court of appeal noted the absence of any such factors from the instant record. The only effect of the procedure under review was to deny the parties the effective and intelligent use of their peremptory challenges by considering the jury panel as a whole.

In his argument, Mr. Tedder seeks to direct the attention of the Court to the practices of other lands, other times, and other courts within the common law tradition. This argument will hold the interest of those who derive pleasure and instruction from such studies.

With no little erudition, Mr. Tedder has taken his readers on a colorful tour including among others a misdemeanor abandonment of a mail bag, in which the United States Supreme Court found itself unable to express any opinion on the certified question whether the defendant was entitled to any peremptory challenges, United States v. Shackelford 59 U.S. (18 How) 488, 15 L.Ed. 464 (1855); two murders on Indian reservations in Arkansas, Lewis v. United States 146 U.S. 355, 13 S.Ct. 186, 36 L.Ed. 1003 (1892); and Pointer v. United States 151 U.S. 407, 14 S.Ct. 410, 38 L.Ed. 208 (1894); a murder on a United States vessel on the high seas, St. Clair v. United States 154 U.S. 134, 14 S.Ct. 1002, 38 L.Ed. 936 (1894); a murder in a lady's apartment over a bank in Reno, State v. Hartley 22 Nev. 342, 40 P. 372 (1895); and a conspiracy to defraud a common carrier, McDonald v. State, 172 Ind. 393, 88 N.E. (1909).

Mr. Tedder's cases do make the point that the right of the parties to use their peremptory challenges intelligently and effectively with the whole panel in view has reached different stages in different common law courts. In some courts, particular trial courts of the United States, it is



largely unrecognized; see, e.g. United States v. Mackey 345 F.2d 499 (7th Cir. 1965); St. Clair v. United States, supra; Pointer v. United States, supra.

Some development of the right may be detected in Carr v. Watts 597 F.2d. 830 (2d Cir. 1979), reversing a procedure which required parties to use their challenges on original jurors only, as a denial of the parties' right to save peremptory challenges for replacement jurors yet to be examined. The Second Circuit distinguished Mackey and so did not reach its corollary issue of a party's right to backstrike original jurors after examining the replacements of challenged jurors.

That the right of the parties to use their peremptory challenges intelligently and effectively with the whole panel in view has reached different stages in different common law courts serves to illustrate that the right is one within the scope of common law development.

Whatever stage other courts have reached, in the courts of Florida and particularly in this Supreme Court, the right at issue is recognized and emphasized.

Mr. Tedder's suggestion that the rule-making authority of this Court has been usurped by the decisions in which the right at issue has developed overlooks the proposition that rule-making can codify the mechanics of exercising a right developed through case-by-case decisions. See e.g. Florida Rule of

Appellate Procedure 9.110 (k), noted as codifying Mendez v. West Flagler Family Association 303 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1974); Florida Workers' Compensation Rule of Procedure 4.141 (b), noted as codifying established practice implicitly approved by the majority in Drexel Properties, Inc. v. Brown 443 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.216 (a), noted as based on Pouncy v. State 353 So.2d 640 (Fla 3d DCA 1977).

Florida's common law development of the right of intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges with the full panel in view will be upheld or destroyed by the decision in this case. If this right is illusory and insubstantial, then it may be readily infringed by any trial court which arbitrarily departs from the well known "better practice" of allowing challenges to any prospective juror at any time until the jury is sworn, precisely for the sole purpose of denying the parties this right. If the right is real and substantial, then trial courts do not have the authority to infringe upon it. Jackson v. State 10 FLW 95 (Fla. Jan. 31, 1985) (A 47).

II. WHERE THE WRITTEN EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT PROVIDED GENERAL MANAGER WOULD SUBMIT SUCH DOCUMENTATION AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIATE REASONABLE ENTERTAINMENT, PROMOTIONAL AND TRAVEL EXPENSES, AND HE ON REPEATED OCCASIONS TWICE SUBMITTED AND RECEIVED REIMBURSEMENT FOR THE SAME EXPENSES: THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DIRECT A VERDICT THAT THE GENERAL MANAGER'S DISCHARGE WAS JUSTIFIED.

The trial court's denial of Video's motion for a directed verdict, although approved by the district court of appeal, is properly here for review. This Court's review encompasses the decisions of the courts below, not merely the certified question. Rupp v. Jackson 238 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1970).

The contract prepared by Mr. Tedder's attorney provided:

"E-Expenses: During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay all reasonable expenses of the General Manager in accordance with the general policy of the company, including entertainment and promotional expenses and travel expenses and the employee agrees to submit to this company such documentation as may be necessary to substantiate such expenses."

In the course of settling the jury instructions, the trial court found that such a requirement was reasonable as a matter of law. (Defendants' Requested Instruction No.5, otherwise modified over objection and given. Tr. p. 499).

Mr. Tedder's double billing of certain expenses is shown by his own testimony:

"Q (by Mr. Richardson) Were you, in fact, paid twice for any of your travel expenses? A (Mr. Tedder) Well, in all of the many months since the time of my dismissal, in looking over all of the records and everything, yes, I was." (Tr. p.154; A 24).

Mr. Tedder further admitted (Tr., p.242; A 25), that Defendants' Exhibit No. 6 accurately summarized the records indicating the double billing. (Defendants' Exhibit No. 6 is reproduced in the Appendix at A 26).

Because the requirement of documentation was reasonable, and the required documentation was not submitted by Mr. Tedder, reasonable minds could not differ as to whether the requirement of the contract was satisfied. Because Mr. Tedder breached this term of his contract, Video was entitled to a directed verdict on the issue of wrongful discharge.

In Haiman v. Gundershaimer 130 Fla. 109, 177 So. 199 (1937), with facts close to the present case, the employer required expense reports for all items of expense from the petty cash account. As this Court noted, "This was a reasonable requirement and one which any successful business man would expect an employee in the management of any part of his business to comply with." 177 So. at 200.

In Haiman, judgment for the employee was reversed because the circuit court erroneously submitted the case to the jury to decide whether the employee's failure to account for her employer's petty cash was a material or trivial departure from her duties. This Court held that it was for the trial court to interpret the employment contract.

In the instant case, there was no jury question whether the plaintiff employee had failed, at least negligently, to document his expenses and had double billed his expenses in violation of the contract.

It was a question of law whether such violation was material or trivial. Addressing that question, the trial judge held that the repeated failures to account for the company's money and the receipt of double payment for the same business expenses were trivial as a matter of law if they were unintentional (Tr. p.425-426).

The flaw in the reasoning of the trial court is that the correct legal question was not whether Mr. Tedder breached his duty to account to the employer and substantiate his reasonable business expenses intentionally or merely carelessly; rather the question was whether he breached his duty to account to his employer for his reasonable expenses.

The employer was entitled to a directed verdict if there was no evidence whatever that could support a legal verdict for the employee on this issue. Applying the standard of Strahm v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. 285 So.2d 679 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), there was no evidence, and no reasonable inference from any evidence, tending to show otherwise than that Mr. Tedder repeatedly double billed his expenses and failed to account for a travel advance in violation of his contract

Only by rewriting the pertinent portion of the contract which says:

"E-Expenses: During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay all reasonable expenses of the General Manager in accordance with the general policy of the company, including entertainment and promotional expenses and travel expenses and the employee agrees to submit to this company such documentation as may be necessary to substantiate such expenses." (emphasis supplied) (R 6; A 16)

to say something along the lines of:

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